2010

Jones and Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Jonathan L.  
Lowry, Nathan Kinsella, Financial Development  
Services, INC., Jeremy Warburton, John  
Neubaruer, and ESBEX.COM, INC. : Brief of  
Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court's jurisdiction rests upon Utah Code Annotated Section 78A-3-102(3)(a) (2010).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

**1. Whether the Utah Court of Appeals erred in finding that evidence of one of the *Colman v. Colman* factors is insufficient to establish the first prong of the alter ego doctrine.**

Standard of Review: This Court reviews “the court of appeals’ decision for correctness. The review focuses on whether the court of appeals correctly reviewed the trial court’s decision . . . under the appropriate standard of review.” *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal citations omitted). “When an appellate court reviews a district court’s grant of summary judgment, the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, while the district court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment are reviewed for correctness.” *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Presented in Petition for Writ of Certiorari at page 1.

**2. Whether the Utah Court of Appeals erred in finding that two inconsistent rulings on a motion for summary judgment by the same court on the same claim cannot constitute a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to prevent the entry of summary judgment on a cause of action.**

Standard of Review: This Court reviews “the court of appeals’ decision for correctness. The review focuses on whether the court of appeals correctly reviewed the trial court’s decision . . . under the appropriate standard of review.” *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal citations omitted). “When an appellate court reviews a district court’s grant of summary judgment, the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, while the district court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment are reviewed for correctness.” *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Presented in Petition for Writ of Certiorari at page 1.

### **CONTROLLING PROVISIONS**

There is no constitutional or statutory or other provision material to this appeal.



## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case generally revolves around a contract dispute and involves an appeal from a grant of summary judgment as to the personal liability of Respondents, Jonathan L. Lowry (“Lowry”) and Nathan Kinsella (“Kinsella”).

### Procedural History

Petitioner Jones & Trevor Marketing (“J&T”) filed this case on August 29, 2002. (R. 33-49.) On June 17, 2004, J&T filed an amended complaint, including Respondents Lowry and Kinsella as defendants and alleging against them theft, fraudulent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, fraudulent non-disclosure, and intentional interference with business relations.<sup>1</sup> (R. 1021-44.)

Lowry and Kinsella filed a joint motion for summary judgment on or about May 20, 2005. (R. 1198-1200.) After hearing oral argument on September 22, 2005 and allowing the parties to redepose John Neubauer, the district court granted the motion on February 1, 2006, holding that the corporate veil could not be pierced under the alter ego doctrine because there was insufficient evidence that Lowry and Kinsella “acted in their personal capacity or took funds improperly.”<sup>2</sup> (R. 1699.) The Honorable Derek P. Pullan signed the order partially granting the motion on March 31, 2006. (R. 2019-22.) Only J&T’s claim of fraudulent misrepresentation against Lowry survived the 2005 motion for summary judgment, because the judge determined that there was a genuine issue of

---

<sup>1</sup> On September 17, 2007, a default judgment was entered against Defendants Financial Development Services, Inc. and Esbex.com, Inc. (R. 2215-17.)

<sup>2</sup> This ruling is attached hereto as Addendum B.

material fact in dispute on that claim. (R. 1702.) Lowry eventually filed a separate motion for summary judgment on that claim on June 23, 2008. (R. 2259-2285.) In the interim between the 2005 and the 2008 motions for summary judgment, little if any additional discovery was conducted by either party.<sup>3</sup> The Honorable David N. Mortensen granted the motion and issued a final order in the case on October 8, 2008, holding that there were no genuine issues of material fact to prevent the entry of summary judgment.<sup>4</sup> (R. 2378-2385.) In an opinion dated May 6, 2010, the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed both orders.<sup>5</sup> *Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Lowry*, 2010 UT App 113, 233 P.3d 538.

### **Statement of Facts**

The Plaintiff/Appellant, Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc., is a Nevada corporation engaged in the sale of training courses developed by its owner and principal, Ted Thomas. (R. 1293, 1691.) Financial Development Services, Inc., (“FDS”) one of the corporate defendants, was a Utah corporation engaged in sales and telemarketing activities. (R. 1293, 1691.) FDS was dissolved on November 3, 2004. (R. 1293, 1691.) Esbex.com, Inc., (“Esbex”) the other corporate defendant, was originally a dba of FDS and was eventually incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of FDS. (R. 1294-95, 1692.) Esbex was dissolved on November 29, 2004. (R. 1295, 1692.) At all relevant times, Lowry and Kinsella were the sole shareholders and directors of FDS and Esbex.

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial court docket reflects no discovery activity after the October 7, 2005 return of service of a subpoena to John Neubauer.

<sup>4</sup> This order is attached hereto as Addendum C.

<sup>5</sup> This opinion is attached hereto as Addendum A.

(R. 1296, 1300, 1693.)

On or about January 31, 2002, J&T entered into a Sales and Marketing Agreement with FDS. (R. 1691, 1230-1234.) Under the agreement, J&T provided to FDS training courses and sales leads. (R. 1230-31.) In exchange, FDS was to market and sell J&T's training courses and provide coaching services, earning a commission of 60% of the gross sales. (R. 1230.) Esbex, though not in privity of contract with J&T, provided coaching services to purchasers of the J&T courses. (R. 1295.) In a letter dated July 19, 2001, Lowry sent a letter to J&T terminating the contract. (R. 2342.) After the relationship between the parties soured, J&T brought suit against FDS and Esbex and eventually against Lowry and Kinsella personally. (R. 33-49, 1021-44.)

In its opposition and supplemental opposition to Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment, J&T presented the following evidence regarding Lowry and Kinsella's direction and use of FDS and Esbex with regard to the J&T contract.

- Lowry and Kinsella were, at all times relevant to this appeal, the sole shareholders, officers, and directors of FDS and Esbex. (R. 1296, 1300, 1693.)
- Lowry and Kinsella ran FDS and Esbex as if the two corporations were one entity. (R. 1294-95.)
- Lowry and Kinsella were both aware and in control of all of the financial transactions that took place at FDS and Esbex and determined the allocation of monies to the two entities. (R. 1642-43, 1695.)
- When customers returned J&T products, Lowry and Kinsella kept the refunds

from J&T and, instead of sending the product back to J&T, resold the product to new customers. (R. 1642.)

- Lowry and Kinsella knew that they were taking money earmarked for J&T customer refunds. (R. 1643-44.)
- Lowry and Kinsella instructed their employees to omit from their reports to J&T the ongoing monthly fees that Esbex and FDS collected from coaching services. (R. 1644.)
- Lowry and Kinsella took thousands of dollars of company proceeds for personal use, such as hunting trips, without proper documentation or accounting and in disregard of the money needed to run the corporations. (R. 1642-46.)
- Kinsella took money from FDS without telling Lowry. (R. 1644-45.)
- After FDS terminated the agreement with J&T, Lowry and Kinsella made the decision to continue selling coaching, to instruct their employees not tell J&T about it, and to keep the money derived from the sales. (R. 1641-42.)
- That FDS and Esbex in fact continued to sell coaching services and continued to use Ted Thomas's name in their sales materials. (R. 1323-1567.)
- In November 2002, FDS and Esbex were deemed insolvent and dissolved. (R. 1695.)

Despite the above evidence, the trial court held that there was no genuine issue of fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of the corporations or whether

Lowry and Kinsella personally committed torts in connection with the contract with J&T.

The court of appeals affirmed. *Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Lowry*, 2010 UT App 113, 233 P.3d 538. J&T now seeks review of the case by this Court.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court of appeals erred in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment on two of Petitioner's claims. First, the court erred in holding that the entry of summary judgment was proper where J&T provided evidence that Lowry and Kinsella failed to observe the corporate form and met at least one of the *Colman v Colman* factors. While most of J&T's evidence went toward showing that one of the *Colman* factors had been met, J&T also provided evidence of some of the other factors. Further, there is no justification for failing to consider the application of the alter ego doctrine simply because the evidence primarily supports only one of the *Colman* factors.

Second, the court erred in holding that two contradictory decisions on motions for summary judgment on J&T's fraud claim against Lowry failed to constitute a genuine issue of material fact. Though Petitioner acknowledges that a district court judge is permitted to change his mind prior to the entry of a final order, there must be sufficient justification for doing so. In this case, the fact that two different factfinders made contradictory decisions on a motion for summary judgment with essentially the same evidence before them, demonstrates that there was an issue of material fact as to whether the elements of fraud had been met and that Petitioner's fraudulent misrepresentation claim against Lowry should have been preserved for trial.

Petitioner therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse the court of appeals and remand this case to the trial court for a trial on Petitioner's alter ego claim against both Lowry and Kinsella and on Petitioner's fraud claim against Lowry.

## ARGUMENT

The court of appeals erred in its analysis of the alter ego doctrine, particularly with respect to the application of the *Colman* factors, and it erred in finding that two inconsistent rulings on a motion for summary judgment cannot constitute a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to preclude the entry of summary judgment.

This Court reviews “the court of appeals’ decision for correctness. The review focuses on whether the court of appeals correctly reviewed the trial court’s decision . . . under the appropriate standard of review.” *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal citations omitted). “When an appellate court reviews a district court’s grant of summary judgment, the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, while the district court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment are reviewed for correctness.” *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312 (internal quotations and citations omitted). With respect to legal conclusions and judgment, this Court gives “no deference to the district court.” *Raab v. Utah Ry. Co.*, 2009 UT 61, ¶ 10, 221 P.3d 219.

Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to J&T, the nonmoving party, summary judgment was inappropriate as to J&T’s alter ego claim and its fraud claim against Lowry. This Court should therefore reverse the court of appeals’ decision and remand for a trial on those two causes of action.

**I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT EVIDENCE OF ONLY ONE OF THE *COLMAN* FACTORS IS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH THE FIRST PRONG OF THE ALTER EGO DOCTRINE.**

The court of appeals incorrectly affirmed the district court's ruling on the grounds that there was insufficient evidence to support the application of the alter ego doctrine because Petitioner presented evidence of only one of the *Colman* factors.

Under Utah law, a court will pierce the corporate veil and hold individuals liable under the equitable alter ego doctrine where

(1) there [is] such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist, viz., the corporation is, in fact, the alter ego of one or a few individuals; and (2) the observance of the corporate form would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or an inequitable result would follow.

*Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co.*, 596 P.2d 1028, 1030 (Utah 1979). The rationale behind the alter ego doctrine in Utah has been explained as follows: “[I]f a principal shareholder or owner conducts his private and corporate business on an interchangeable or joint basis as if they were one, he is without standing to complain when an injured party does the same.” *Colman v. Colman*, 743 P.2d 782, 786 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citing *Bone Constr. Co. v. Lewis*, 250 S.E.2d 851, 853 (Ga. Ct. App. 1978)). Notably, the alter ego doctrine “is an equitable doctrine requiring that each case be determined upon its peculiar facts.” *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors*, 761 P.2d 42, 47 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (citing *Nat’l Bond Fin. Co. v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 341 F.2d 1022, 1023 (8th Cir. 1965)).

In order to determine whether the individual and the corporate form have merged,



and the first prong of the alter ego doctrine met, Utah courts generally consider the following “significant, although not conclusive.” factors:

(1) undercapitalization of a one-man corporation; (2) failure to observe corporate formalities; (3) non-payment of dividends; (4) siphoning of corporate funds by the dominant stockholder; (5) non-functioning of other officers or directors; (6) absence of corporate records; (7) the use of the corporation as a façade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders; and (8) the use of the corporate entity in promoting injustice or fraud.

*Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 (citing *Ramsey v Adams*, 603 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Kan. Ct. App. 1979); *Amoco Chems Corp v Bach*, 567 P.2d 1337, 1341-42 (Kan. 1977)). In addition to the above factors, courts “look[] through form to substance and ha[ve] often disregarded the corporate form when it was fiction in fact and deed and was merely serving the personal use and convenience of the owner.” *Id* at 786 (quoting *Lyons v Lyons*, 340 So. 2d 450, 451 (Ala. Civ. App. 1976)).

Though Utah courts often consider a number of the *Colman* factors in order to determine whether the first prong of the alter ego doctrine has been satisfied, there is often stronger evidence relating to one prong and some factors tend to weigh more heavily in favor of piercing the corporate veil. In *Colman*, the court expounded particularly on the seventh, façade, factor: “[f]ailure to distinguish between corporate and personal property, the use of corporate funds to pay personal expenses without proper accounting, and failure to maintain complete corporate and financial records are looked upon with extreme disfavour.” *Id* at 786 n.3 (citing *Roylex, Inc. v. Langson Bros Constr Co*, 585 S.W.2d 768, 772 (Tex. Civ. App. 1979)). The *James Constructors*

court. too. placed emphasis on the “extent to which the corporate formalities . . . are observed.” *James Constructors*, 761 P.2d at 47.

Utah courts frequently disregard the corporate form where only a few of the above elements are present in the case, as the court did in *Colman*. In *Colman*, the court noted with approval the *Lyons* case. In *Lyons*, the court disregarded the corporate form and held a shareholder personally liable for, among other things, essentially violating the façade *Colman* factor by commingling corporate funds with his own and failing to keep proper corporate records. *Lyons*, 340 So. 2d at 451.

In this case, in addition to the evidence in support of the façade factor, J&T presented evidence that supported several of the *Colman* factors. J&T presented evidence that there was “siphoning of corporate funds by the dominant stockholder.” In fact, there was evidence that Kinsella took money from FDS without telling Lowry. (R. 1644-45.) J&T also presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella used “the corporate entity in promoting injustice or fraud.” Evidence was submitted that showed that Lowry and Kinsella kept returned products and resold the product to new customers (R. 1642) and that Lowry and Kinsella knew that they were taking money earmarked for customer refunds (R. 1643-44). There was also evidence that Lowry and Kinsella knowingly sold on-going coaching services and failed to report those fees to J&T as required by the contract. (R. 1644.) Finally, J&T presented evidence that both FDS and Esbex were undercapitalized, as demonstrated by the insolvency and dissolution of both entities in November 2004. (R. 1695.)

Despite the above evidence, the court of appeals noted that “J&T’s argument focuses almost exclusively on . . . [one of the *Colman* factors,] ‘the use of the corporation as a façade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders.’” *Jones & Trevor Marketing v. Lowry*, 2010 UT App 113, ¶ 8, 233 P.3d 538 (quoting *D’Elia v. Rice Dev. Inc.*, 2006 UT App 416, ¶ 30, 147 P.3d 515). The court then held that “[w]ithout any evidence of the other alter ego factors, we cannot gauge the materiality of the one factor on which evidence was presented.” *Id.* at ¶ 10.

While the *Colman* factors are a good tool for determining whether the alter ego doctrine applies, Utah courts should, and most often do, take a substance over form approach. In fact, the *Colman* court even acknowledged that its factors are not meant to be conclusive and that courts should, in fact, look to the substance over form. *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786. Indeed, the *Colman* factors are just a set of tools that assist a court in determining whether “there is such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist, viz., the corporation is, in fact, the alter ego of one or a few individuals.” *Norman*, 596 P.2d at 1030.

As noted by the court of appeals, J&T presented significant evidence that Lowry and Kinsella completely disregarded the corporate form when it suited their needs and used their corporations “as a façade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders.” *Jones*, 2010 UT App 113, ¶¶ 8-10. Specifically, J&T presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella took thousands of dollars of company proceeds for personal use, such as hunting trips, without proper documentation or accounting. (R. 1643.) There was

evidence, also, that Kinsella took money from FDS without telling Lowry (R. 1644-45), and that Lowry and Kinsella took money from FDS and Esbex to fund their personal interests, without proper accounting and in disregard of the money needed to run the corporations (R. 1642-46). Viewing these facts in the light most favourable to J&T, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether enough corporate formalities were disregarded as to invoke the alter ego doctrine.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals and hold that evidence of one of the *Colman* factors or simply evidence that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individuals no longer exist can be sufficient to satisfy the first prong of the alter ego doctrine.

## **II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT TWO INCONSISTENT RULINGS ON A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT CANNOT CONSTITUTE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT.**

In this case, the district court initially found that J&T had presented evidence sufficient to withstand summary judgment with respect to its fraudulent misrepresentation claim against Lowry. Upon a second motion for summary judgment on the fraudulent misrepresentation claim, the district court found that there was no genuine issue of material fact that prevented the entry of summary judgment.

Under Utah law, the elements of a claim for fraudulent misrepresentation are:

(1) a representation; (2) concerning a presently existing material fact; (3) which was false; (4) which the representor either (a) knew to be false, or (b) made recklessly, knowing that he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation; (5) for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it; (6) that the other party, acting reasonably and in ignorance of its

falsity: (7) did in fact rely upon it; (8) and was thereby induced to act; (9) to his injury and damage.

*Larsen v Exclusive Cars, Inc* . 2004 UT App 259. ¶7, 97 P.3d 714 (citing *Dugan v Jones*, 615 P.2d 1239, 1246 (Utah 1980)).

The district court originally found that Lowry's statements made in conjunction with the termination of the contract created a question of fact precluding summary judgment on the fraudulent misrepresentation claim. (R. 1702.) Specifically, the court held that, though there was generally there was little evidence to support the fraudulent misrepresentation. the exception was

“Lowry's written statement that on termination of the contract ‘FDS would cease selling Thomas's product and cease using Thomas's name and leads.’ There is evidence in the record that FDS disregarded this representation completely. Drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the Plaintiff, the Court denies Defendant Lowry's motion for summary judgment as to this claim against Lowry.”

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