2010

Jones and Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Jonathan L.  
Lowry, Nathan Kinsella, Financial Development  
Services, INC., Jeremy Warburton, John  
Neubaruer, and ESBEX.COM, INC. : Brief of  
Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

**V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioner J&T Marketing originally brought mainly contract claims against FDS in this lawsuit. [R. at 40-44.] After conducting discovery which included taking may depositions, J&T Marketing amended its complaint, continuing to allege contract claims but also including tort claims against officers and employees of FDS. J&T Marketing later sought to pierce the corporate veil to hold Lowry and Kinsella liable for damages in the place of FDS. Lowry and Kinsella submitted that piercing the corporate veil is an equitable doctrine that courts should be extraordinarily reluctant to impose in contract cases. Despite a record that demonstrates a considerable volume of discovery having been conducted, J&T Marketing has utterly failed to present any evidence to justify piercing the corporate veil under the alter ego test. The evidence in the record fails to raise an issue of material fact regarding whether a unity of interest existed between Respondents and FDS and/or Esbex.com. Instead, the undisputed record evidence demonstrates that corporate formalities were followed and that corporate finances were properly accounted for by FDS. In addition, no evidence in the record indicates that Lowry or Kinsella acted outside of the scope of their positions within the corporations.

Without any evidence to justify piercing the corporate veil under the alter ego doctrine, the court of appeals correctly affirmed the district court's decision to grant summary judgment to Lowry and Kinsella on J&T Marketing's claims.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the District Court's Grant of Summary Judgment in Favor of Lowry and Kinsella on J&T Marketing's Alter Ego Claims Because No Genuine Issues of Material Fact were Established.**

"When reviewing a case on certiorari, [this Court] review[s] the court of appeals' decision for correctness," focusing "on whether [the court of appeals] correctly reviewed the trial court's decision under the appropriate standard of review." *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶8, 152 P.3d 312 (further quotation and citation omitted). Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that summary judgment may be obtained "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there are no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. Pro. 56(c). However, when contending against a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff having the burden of proof "has the obligation to come forward with sufficient proof to show that [it is] entitled to proceed to trial." *Gerbich v. Numed Inc.*, 1999 UT 37, ¶12, 977 P.2d 1205. This is particularly true "when the parties [have] had an opportunity to conduct discovery." *Id.* Evidence is sufficient when it raises "a genuine issue of fact." *Klienert v. Kimball Elevator Co.*, 854 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Utah Ct. App. 1993); *see also* Utah R. Civ. Pro. 56(e) ("When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in

[Rule 56], an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but the response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.”). If the plaintiff as the non-moving party does not submit any evidence to support an element of its claim, the district court should grant summary judgment on that claim.

Utah court decisions on this standard are consistent with United States Supreme Court decisions interpreting the federal equivalent of Utah’s Rule 56.

When a party “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case . . . there can be ‘no genuine issue as to any material fact,’ since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” Thus, the standard for summary judgment “mirrors the standard for a directed verdict,” in that a moving party, who has otherwise made its case, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law where the “nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the burden of proof.”

*Burns v. Cannondale Bicycle Co.*, 876 P.2d 415, 419-20 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986) (internal citations omitted)). Since J&T Marketing did not set forth facts sufficient to raise a dispute over the existence of any material fact supporting the essential elements of an alter ego claim against Lowry and Kinsella, the district court properly concluded that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact and properly granted summary judgment against J&T Marketing on this issue. *See Anderson Dev. Co. v. Tobias*, 2005 UT 36, ¶23, 116 P.3d 323.

#### **B. The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment on J&T Marketing’s Alter Ego Claims.**

The court of appeals correctly affirmed the district court’s grant of summary

judgment to Lowry and Kinsella on J&T Marketing's alter ego theory because J&T Marketing failed to establish any material facts relevant to the alter ego factors, making summary judgment appropriate as a matter of law.<sup>4</sup>

1. *Courts Should be Extraordinarily Reluctant Lift the Corporate Veil in Contract Disputes.*

Each of J&T Marketing's claims in the Amended Complaint specifically identifies FDS as a defendant. J&T Marketing's first, fourth, and fifth claims for relief (breach of contract, breach of good faith and fair dealing, and accounting) are directly related to the contract dispute. J&T Marketing's remaining claims against FDS also boil down to the contract dispute between J&T Marketing and FDS.

In Utah "a corporation is regarded as a legal entity, separate and apart from its stockholders." *Dockstader v. Walker*, 510 P.2d 526, 528 (Utah 1973). "The general rule is that a corporation is an entity separate and distinct from its officers, shareholders and directors and that they will not be held personally liable for the corporations' debts and obligations." *Reedeker v. Salisbury*, 952 P.2d 577, 582 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (quotations and citations omitted). "In so immunizing corporate directors from personal liability, the law has proceeded on the theory that in so acting they are but the agents of the corporation and that the breach is that of the corporation, and hence it alone is answerable therefore [sic]." *Id.*

The alter ego theory "is an equitable doctrine requiring that each case be

---

<sup>4</sup> J&T Marketing did not expressly assert an alter ego theory in its Amended Complaint. However, J&T Marketing did raise the alter ego doctrine in its *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella's Motion for Summary Judgment*. [R. 1321.]

determined upon its peculiar facts.” *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc.*, 761 P.2d 42, 47 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In applicable situations, the alter ego theory justifies piercing the corporate veil, “permitting creditors of the corporation to reach the assets of a controlling shareholder.” *Transamerica Cash Reserve, Inc. v. Dixie Power and Water, Inc.*, 789 P.2d 24, 26 (Utah 1990). Utah Courts “have stated that ‘[c]ourts must balance piercing and insulating policies and [should] only reluctantly and cautiously pierce the corporate veil.’” *Schafir v. Harrigan*, 879 P.2d 1384, 1389 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting *James Constructors*, 761 P.2d at 46). In contract disputes, “[c]ourts have been extraordinarily reluctant to lift the veil in contract cases, such as this one, where the ‘creditor has willingly transacted business’ with the corporation.” *d’Elia v. Rice Dev., Inc.*, 2006 UT App 416, ¶28, 147 P.3d 515 (further citations omitted).

## 2. *The Alter Ego Doctrine Test*

To invoke the equitable alter ego doctrine and disregard the corporate entity, two circumstances must exist. “[First], there must be such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist . . . ; and [second], the observance of the corporate form would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or an inequitable result would follow.” *Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co.*, 596 P.2d 1028, 1030 (Utah 1979).

Utah courts have identified significant factors that guide a determination of whether the unity-of-interest prong (or “formalities requirement”) has been violated. These factors include the following:

- (1) undercapitalization of a one-man corporation;
- (2) failure to observe

corporate formalities; (3) nonpayment of dividends; (4) siphoning of corporate funds by the dominant stockholder; (5) nonfunctioning of other officers or directors; (6) absence of corporate records; (7) the use of the corporation as a facade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders; and (8) the use of the corporate entity in promoting injustice or fraud.

*Colman v. Colman*, 743 P.2d 782, 786 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). Satisfaction of the second prong (or “fairness requirement”) is “left to the conscience of the court.” *d’Elia*, 2006 UT App 416 at ¶30. However, the second prong “is not met simply because a trial court finds that that form would in some way prevent a creditor of a controlling shareholder from quickly being made whole . . . . [I]t is not enough for the creditor to complain that it must proceed against the shareholder’s assets . . . rather than simply levying on the corporation’s assets.” *Transamerica Cash Reserve, Inc. v. Dixie Power and Water, Inc.*, 789 P.2d 24, 26 (Utah 1990). Rather, “it must be shown that the corporation itself played a role in the inequitable conduct at issue.” *Id.*

**C. J&T Marketing Did Not Produce Any Credible Evidence to Support the Unity of Interest Prong of the Alter Ego Doctrine.**

J&T Marketing claims that it “presented evidence that supported several of the *Colman* factors.” *Brief of Petitioner* at 12.<sup>5</sup> The record shows otherwise. As noted by the court of appeals, “[t]he disputed fact recited by J&T [Marketing] is not material because even if it were true, it is not enough, by itself, to suggest applicability of the alter ego theory, especially in the absence of any facts bearing on the other elements and factors required to prove the alter ego theory.” *Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Lowry*, 2010

---

<sup>5</sup> To the extent that J&T Marketing’s citations to the record refers to or references Neubauer’s stricken bankruptcy deposition, Respondents object to such citations.

UT App 113, ¶6, 233 P.3d 538.

*1. Lowry and Kinsella Presented Undisputed Evidence to Show that Corporate Formalities were Followed.*

As noted by the court of appeals, J&T Marketing’s argument “focuses almost exclusively” on the seventh factor of the unity-of-interest prong, “the use of the corporation as a façade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders.” *Id.* at ¶8; *see also* Brief of Petitioner at 11-14. Regarding the seventh factor, Utah courts have stated that “[f]ailure to distinguish between corporate and personal property, the use of corporate funds to pay personal expenses *without proper accounting*, and failure to maintain complete corporate and financial records are looked upon with extreme disfavor.” *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 n.3 (emphasis added). J&T Marketing has presented no evidence, however, that Lowry or Kinsella failed to distinguish their funds from the corporation’s, that they commingled corporate funds with their own, or that they failed to keep proper records.

On the other hand, the court of appeals has held that evidence demonstrating that the corporation observed the requisite corporate formalities is sufficient to preclude piercing the corporate veil under the alter ego theory. *See Schafir v. Harrigan*, 879 P.2d 1384, 1390 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). In *Schafir*, the district court relied upon copies of the corporation’s articles of incorporation, minutes from board of director’s meetings, corporate annual reports filed with the State of Utah, and corporate tax returns for 1983 and 1984. *See id.* The record in this case contains similar evidence, undisputed by J&T Marketing, that FDS and Esbex.com maintained corporate formalities.

In this case, Lowry and Kinsella submitted articles of incorporation for FDS and Esbex.com, as well as other corporate documents, demonstrating the maintenance of corporate formalities. [R. 1149-1200.] Lowry explained by affidavit that the affairs of FDS and Esbex.com were kept separate and distinct and that he and Kinsella kept their own personal and financial affairs separate and distinct from both FDS and Esbex.com. [R. 1196.] Further, Neubauer, the Chief Financial Officer of FDS and Esbex.com, testified that he accounted for and kept track of all withdrawals by Lowry and Kinsella and audited the records himself and prepared weekly conciliation reports. [R. 1641, Neubauer Dep. 40:3-14; R. 1643, Neubauer Dep. 29:13-21.] Neubauer prepared the financial records, including monthly income statements and net profit and loss statements, for the corporations, [R. 1642; Neubauer Dep. 36:18-25], and neither FDS nor Esbex.com had fraudulent purposes, [R. 1640; Neubauer Dep. 42:9-10]. Neubauer agreed that Lowry and Kinsella desired to make a profit but such was “true of every business.” [R. 1668; Neubauer Dep. 11:9-25.] The fact that Lowry and Kinsella took money out of the corporation does not show that corporate funds were treated as personal property, that proper accounting was absent, or that proper financial records were not kept. Indeed, the undisputed evidence as stated above establishes exactly the opposite.

J&T Marketing presented no evidence that would tend to show that Lowry and Kinsella’s actions in any way jeopardized the integrity of the corporation or were otherwise commercially unreasonable in governing the affairs and operating FDS and Esbex.com. [R. 1194-96.] Indeed, Neubauer testified that Lowry and Kinsella instructed him to “find a way to free up expenses and free up cash flow” to provide refunds to



customers. [R. 1644; Neubauer Dep. 25:7-23.] Again, J&T Marketing presented no evidence contradict or dispute these facts.

In its brief to this Court, J&T Marketing asserts that the court of appeals noted that J&T Marketing had presented “significant evidence” to show that Lowry and Kinsella took money from the corporation for their personal use without proper documentation. *See Brief of Petitioner* at 13. On the contrary, the court of appeals stated “the evidence presented to the district court and called to [its] attention on appeal, viewed in the light most favorable to J&T [Marketing], does not support the contention that the money was taken ‘without proper accounting.’” *Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc.*, 2010 UT App 113 at ¶9 (further citation omitted). Instead of supporting J&T Marketing’s contention, the court of appeals stated that “[t]he evidence properly of record showed that although Lowry and Kinsella took money from FDS when it was struggling to meet its other financial obligations, the money was accounted for, and no evidence was produced that this accounting was done improperly.” *Id.* The evidence cited to this Court by J&T Marketing has not changed, contains no new information, and does not show that the court of appeals erred in reaching its conclusion to affirm the district court’s ruling on summary judgment for Lowry and Kinsella.

The mere fact that Lowry and Kinsella were distributed money out of the corporation, standing alone, does not raise any genuine issue of material fact concerning the unity of interest prong of the alter ego theory. *Cf. Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions Co.*, 2003 UT 57, ¶37, 84 P.3d 1154 (holding that the fact that though tax refund payments in an “S” corporation are passed through to shareholders without being exposed

to taxation on the corporate level “does not carry with it a suggestion of impropriety or inequality”). In *d’Elia*, the court of appeals noted that the record in that case demonstrated that the corporation “appropriately followed certain internal corporate formalities.” *d’Elia*, 2006 UT App 416 at ¶32. The court of appeals further determined that distributions made to the president and sole-shareholder of the corporation “were not inappropriate.” *Id.* at ¶32.

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